# Constitution

Date: 1<sup>st</sup> October 2022

**DAVISTOWN RSL BOWLING CLUB** 

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

CONST	ITUTION	3
1.	NAME OF THE CLUB	3
2.	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS	3
3.	OBJECTIVES	4
4.	INCOME AND PROPERTY OF THE CLUB	4
5.	STATUS AND COMPLIANCE OF SUB-CLUB.  5.1 Recognition of Sub-Club.  5.2 Registered Club.  5.3 Amendment of the Constitution.	5 5
6.	MEMBERSHIP	5 6
7.	EFFECT OF MEMBERSHIP	6
8.	FEES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS	7
9.	REGISTER	7
10.	DISCONTINUANCE OF MEMBERSHIP	7
11.	DISCIPLINE OF MEMBERS	3
12.	GENERAL MEETINGS  12.1 Annual General Meeting  12.2 General Meetings  12.3 Conduct of General Meetings  12.4 Questions decided by majority  12.5 Equality of votes  12.6 Declaration of results  12.7 Chair to determine any voting dispute  12.8 Minutes	8 9 9 0 0
13.	VOTES OF MEMBERS10	)
14.	MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE10	-
15.	VACANCIES ON THE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	1
16.	POWERS AND DUTIES OF MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE12	2
17.	PROCEEDINGS AT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEETINGS	2 2 2

	The President is ex-officio a member of all Sub-Committees with the exception	
	of the Selection Committee	
	VICE PRESIDENTS Will assist the President in the management of the Sub Club and deputise at	IJ
	meetings and other functions in the absence of the President	13
	SECRETARY	
	Shall keep accurate minutes of all proceedings at meetings of the Sub-Club	
	TREASURER	13
	Shall receive all monies due to the club and shall place same to the credit of the	
	Sub-Club, in such bank as the Board of the Registered Club shall from	
	time to time determine	
	BOWLS COORDINATORS	IJ
	Shall organise the playing of the game of bowls under the direction of the Management Committee	13
	SELECTORS	13
	Shall be responsible for the selection of teams for pennant fixtures and other	
	competitive fixtures where the Sub-Club is to be represented	
	17.3 Committee Members' interests	13
18.	TELECOMMUNICATION MEETING	13
19.	DELEGATES	14
20.	SUB-COMMITTEES	14
21.	BY-LAWS	14
22.	KEEPING RECORDS	14
23.	ACCOUNTS	14
20.	23.1 Financial Year	
	23.2 Records	15
	23.3 Management Committee to Submit Accounts	
	23.4 Transactions	15
24.	SERVICE OF DOCUMENTS	15
25.	DISSOLVING SUB-CLUB	15
26.	REPORTING TO BOWLS NSW	15

## Constitution

#### 1. NAME OF THE CLUB

The name of the unincorporated club is DAVISTOWN RSL BOWLING CLUB (**Sub-Club**).

#### 2. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS

In this Constitution unless the context requires otherwise:

**Annual General Meeting** or **AGM** means the annual General Meeting of the Sub-Club required to be held under this Constitution.

**Annual Subscription** means the annual fee(s) payable by each category of Member as determined by the Management Committee under clause 8(a).

**Bowls** means the sport of lawn bowls.

Bowls NSW means Bowls New South Wales Limited.

**By-Laws** mean a by-law made under clause 21.

Chair means the person elected under 14.

**Committee** means a committee established by the Management Committee under clause 19.

**Committee Member** means a member of the Management Committee elected under14.

**Constitution** means this Constitution as amended from time to time, and a reference to a clause is a reference to a clause of this Constitution.

**General Meeting** means a general meeting of Members and includes the AGM and any SGM.

**Individual Member** means a registered, financial Member of the Sub-Club.

**Local Area** means the geographical area in which the Sub-Club operates as determined by Bowls NSW for the administration of competition, such as District or Zone.

**Management Committee** means the body consisting of the Committee Members under clause 14.

**Member** means a member of the Sub-Club under **clause 6**, who must be registered with Bowls NSW as an individual member.

**Objectives** mean the objectives of the Sub-Club outlined in clause 3.

Registered Club means DAVISTOWN RSL CLUB LTD.

**Special General Meeting** or **SGM** means any General Meeting of the Sub-Club held under this Constitution other than the AGM.

**Special Resolution** means a resolution passed by at least 75% of Members entitled to vote and voting on the resolution at the General Meeting at which the resolution is put to Members.

**Voting Member** means those Members of the Sub-Club entitled to vote in General Meeting as set out under **clause 6.1**.

#### 3. OBJECTIVES

The Sub-Club is established solely for the Objectives. The Objectives of the Sub-Club are to:

- (a) form part of the Registered Club and to affiliate with Bowls NSW as an unincorporated Club so Bowls can be conducted, encouraged, promoted, advanced and administered at the Sub-Club and throughout the Local Area;
- (b) conduct, encourage, promote, advance and administer Bowls at the Sub-Club and throughout the Local Area and act, at all times, on behalf of and in the interest of the Members and Bowls in the Sub-Club and Local Area;
- (c) liaise with the Registered Club and adopt their respective rule and policy frameworks as directed by the Registered Club;
- (d) affiliate and otherwise liaise with Bowls NSW and adopt their respective rule and policy frameworks as necessary to further these Objectives; and
- (e) undertake and or do all such things or activities which are necessary, incidental or conducive to the advancement of these Objectives.

## 4. INCOME AND PROPERTY OF THE CLUB

#### 4.1 Sole Purpose

The income and property of the Sub-Club must be applied solely towards the promotion of the Objectives of the Sub-Club.

## 4.2 Payments to Members

No part of the income or property of the Sub-Club may be paid or otherwise distributed, directly or indirectly, to any Member except for payments of an honorarium approved by the Registered Club or payments made to a Member in good faith in the promotion of the Objectives and: (a) in return for any services or goods supplied in the ordinary course and approved by the Registered Club.

## 5. STATUS AND COMPLIANCE OF SUB-CLUB

## 5.1 Recognition of Sub-Club

- (a) The Sub-Club forms part of the Registered Club, being an Inner Club for the purposes of the Registered Club's Constitution, and is affiliated with Bowls NSW and is recognised by those entities as the body responsible for the delivery of Bowls in the Local Area.
- (b) This Constitution will clearly reflect the objects of the Registered Club and will conform to the constitutions and regulations of both the Registered Club and Bowls NSW.

## 5.2 Registered Club

The Sub-Club must not resign, disaffiliate, or otherwise seek to withdraw from the Registered Club or Bowls NSW without approval by Special Resolution.

The Sub Club must comply with any direction of the Board of the Registered Club issued pursuant to Rule 29.11 of the Registered Club's Constitution.

In the event of any inconsistency between the Constitution of the Registered Club or a direction of the Board, and a provision of this Constitution, the Constitution of the Registered Club or a direction of the Board will apply to the extent of the inconsistency.

#### 5.3 Amendment of the Constitution

No addition, alteration or amendment shall be made to this Constitution unless the same has been approved: (a) by the Registered Club prior to the relevant General Meeting of the Sub-Club; and (b) by Special Resolution of the Sub-Club.

## 6. MEMBERSHIP

## 6.1 Categories of Members

The Members of the Sub-Club shall consist of the following categories:

#### a. **LIFE MEMBER**

- Any member of the 'Sub-Club who has rendered long meritorious and continuous service to the 'Sub-Club may be granted Life Membership.
- Life Member shall not be liable for the Annual Sub-Club Subscription and shall have all commitments due to RNSWBA paid by the 'Sub-Club.
- Every Life Member shall, during his membership of this 'Sub-Club, be entitled to all the privileges of a Full Member.

#### b. **FULL MEMBER**

- Any person who is a financial member of the 'Registered Cub and who has paid the subscription in full to the 'Club'
- Must pay an Entrance Fee and an Annual Fee as shown in the
- By-Law which includes all commitments due to the RNSWBA

 Shall have the right to be notified, attend, debate and vote at General Meetings

#### c. JUNIOR MEMBER

- Shall be a member under the age of eighteen (18) years
- Shall have playing privileges and the use of the 'Club' facilities as determined by the Management Committee.

#### d. PATRON

A person or group that gives support to the 'Club. Appointment will be at the discretion of the committee.

e. such new or other categories of Members as may be established by the Management Committee. Any new category of Member established by the Management Committee cannot be granted voting rights without the approval of the Sub-Club in General Meeting.

#### 6.2 Initial members

(a) All persons who are, prior to the adoption of this Constitution, members of of the Registered Club's Men's or Women's Bowling sub clubs shall be the initial members of the Sub Club.

#### 6.3 General

- (a) A Sub-Club Member shall at all times be a financial member of the Registered Club.
- (b) No Member whose membership ceases has any claim against the Sub-Club or the Committee Members for damages or otherwise arising from cessation or termination of membership.
- (c) Membership is personal to each Member. No Member shall, or purport to, assign the rights comprising or associated with membership to any other person and any attempt to do so shall be void.
- (d) Members must treat all staff, contractors and representatives of the Sub-Club and Registered Club, and all other Members with respect and courtesy at all times.
- (e) Members must not act in a manner unbecoming of a member or prejudicial to the Objects and/or interests of the Sub-Club, Registered Club or Bowls.

#### 7. EFFECT OF MEMBERSHIP

- (a) Members acknowledge and agree that:
  - (i) they shall comply with and observe this Constitution and the By-Laws and any determination, resolution or policy which may be

- made or passed by the Management Committee or any duly authorised committee.
- (ii) by submitting to this Constitution and the By-Laws they are subject to the jurisdiction of the Sub-Club and
- (iii) this Constitution is made in pursuit of a common purpose, namely for the mutual and collective benefit of the Sub-Club, the Members and Bowls.
- (b) A Member of the Sub-Club has the right to:
  - (i) receive notice of General Meetings
  - (ii) submit items of business for consideration at General Meetings
  - (iii) attend and be heard at General Meetings and
  - (iv) if they are a Voting Member, vote at General Meetings.

#### 8. FEES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS

- (a) The Management Committee must determine from each year membership fees and the payment method and due date.
- (b) The Management Committee is empowered to prevent any Member whose Annual Subscription, or any other fees, are in arrears from exercising the whole or any of the rights or privileges of membership of the Sub-Club.
- (c) If fees for any Member are in arrears for one month that Member's membership ceases, unless otherwise determined by resolution of the Management Committee.

## 9. REGISTER

The Sub-Club may keep and maintain a register in which may be entered the names, residential addresses, telephone numbers and email addresses of all Members and Committee Members and where applicable, the date of termination of membership of any Member.

#### 10. DISCONTINUANCE OF MEMBERSHIP

A person's membership of the Sub-Club ceases if:

- (a) they resign by giving notice in writing to the Sub-Club
- (b) they fail to pay their Annual Subscription within one month of the due date determined by the Management Committee
- (c) no Annual Subscription is payable, the Management Committee make a written request to the Member, and they fail to respond within one month of that correspondence

- (d) they fail to reapply for membership before the end of the membership year of the Sub-Club or
- (e) they cease their membership of the Registered Club.

#### 11. DISCIPLINE OF MEMBERS

The disciplinary process set out in the Registered Club's constitution applies to instances where the Management Committee is advised of an allegation (not being vexatious, trifling or frivolous) or considers that a member has allegedly:

- (a) breached, failed, refused or neglected to comply with a provision of this Constitution, the By-Laws or any resolution or determination of the Management Committee or any duly authorised Committee; or
- (b) acted in a manner unbecoming of a member or prejudicial to the Objectives and the interests of the Sub-Club, Registered Club and/or Bowls, or another Member; or
- (c) brought themselves, another Member, the Sub-Club, Registered Club, Bowls NSW or Bowls into disrepute.

In such circumstances, the Management Committee will refer the matter to the Registered Club and relevant Member will be subject to, and submits unreservedly to, the jurisdiction, disciplinary procedures and penalties and the appeal mechanisms (if any) in the Registered Club constitution.

On referral of the matter to the Registered Club, the Registered Club may remit the matter to the Management Committee to be determined according to such rules and procedures as the Registered Club determines.

If a disciplinary matter is remitted to the Sub Club in accordance with the previous paragraph, the Management Committee will have the power to suspend a member for any and all of the privileges of membership of the Sub Club.

#### 12. GENERAL MEETINGS

## 12.1 Annual General Meeting

AGMs of the Sub-Club are to be held at least once in each calendar year and otherwise as determined by the Committee Members (including date, venue and mode of meeting) and prior to the end of August in any year

## 12.2 General Meetings

- (a) The Management Committee may convene a General Meeting when it thinks fit.
- (b) The Management Committee must on the requisition in writing of at least 10% of the Voting Members, convene a General Meeting.
- (c) At least 21 days' notice of the time and place of a General Meeting must be given to all Members and Committee Members.

- (d) Where a General Meeting (including an AGM) is convened by the Management Committee it may, if it thinks fit, cancel the meeting or postpone the meeting to a date and time they determine.
- (e) Proxy voting is not permitted at General Meetings of the Sub-Club.
- (f) Conduct of, and communication at, a General Meeting including voting may be permitted from time to time by electronic communication in such instances as the Management Committee determines and shall be conducted in accordance with procedures prescribed by the Management Committee.
- (g) The number of Members who must be present and eligible to vote for a quorum to exist at a General Meeting is 20% Voting Members. If a quorum is not present, the meeting shall be adjourned.

## 12.3 Conduct of General Meetings

- (a) The President is entitled to preside as chair at General Meetings.
- (b) If a General Meeting is convened and the President is not present or is unwilling to act, a Committee Member (or other person) chosen by a majority of the Committee Members present shall preside as chair.
- (c) The chair of a General Meeting has charge over the conduct of the meeting and its procedures and may terminate discussion whenever he or she consider it necessary for the proper conduct of the meeting.
- (d) The chair may with the consent of any General Meeting at which a quorum is present adjourn the meeting or any business, motion, question, resolution, debate or discussion being considered or remaining to be considered by the meeting.
- (e) The adjournment may be either to a later time at the same meeting or to an adjourned meeting at any time and place agreed by vote of the members present. If adjourned for more than 21 days, a new notice of meeting must be distributed to Members.
- (f) Only unfinished business is to be transacted at a meeting resumed after an adjournment.

#### 12.4 Questions decided by majority

Except in the case of a Special Resolution, a resolution is carried if a simple majority of the votes cast on the resolution are in favour of it.

## 12.5 Equality of votes

Where an equal number of votes are cast in favour of and against the resolution, the resolution is not carried. For the avoidance of doubt the chair does not have a casting vote where voting is equal.

#### 12.6 Declaration of results

At any General Meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting must be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is either directed by the chair or demanded by three Voting Members and the demand is not withdrawn.

## 12.7 Chair to determine any voting dispute

If there is a dispute about the admission or rejection of a vote, the chair must decide it and the chair's decision made in good faith is final.

#### 12.8 Minutes

The Management Committee must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each General Meeting.

## 13. VOTES OF MEMBERS

- (a) At a General Meeting, on a show of hands and on a poll, each Voting Member shall have one vote.
- (b) No Members other than Voting Members are entitled to vote at General Meetings.

## 14. MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

#### **EXECUTIVE OFFICERS**

- 14.1 The Executive Officers shall be a President, two (2) Vice Presidents, Secretary, Treasurer and 2 Bowls Coordinators, to be elected in accordance with these Rules at the Annual General Meeting and shall hold office until the next Annual General Meeting or until resignation or vacation of such office, within the current year.
- 14.2 To ensure good governance and adequate representation of both Men's and Women's playing groups in club activities the Management Committee must contain 1 male and 1 female in the positions of Vice President, Selector and Bowls Organisers. All other positions are open.
- 14.3 The Management Committee shall consist of the following Office Bearers
  - a) President
  - b) 2 Vice Presidents 1 female
  - c) Secretary
  - d) Treasurer
  - e) 2 Bowls Coordinators 1 female
  - f) 2 Chairs of Selectors 1 female
- 14.4 At every Annual General Meeting of the 'Club', the Office Bearers shall retire from office, but if nominated shall be eligible for re-election

- (a) The Management Committee shall consist of up to nine (9) Committee Members who shall each be elected at the AGM for a term of one year, expiring at the conclusion of the following AGM.
- (b) At every AGM of the Sub-Club the Committee Members shall retire from office and, if nominated, shall be eligible for re-election.
- (c) Nominations for Committee Member positions shall be received from Members prior to the AGM in such manner as may be determined by the Management Committee.
- (d) All Members over 18 years of age are entitled to stand for office as Committee Members.
- (e) If insufficient nominations are received, the vacancies may be filled by Members from the floor of the Annual General Meeting.
- (f) Those Committee Members in office prior to the adoption of this Constitution shall continue in their role as Committee Members until the next AGM, at which point, they are eligible for re-election.
- (g) The election shall be by secret ballot but otherwise conducted in such manner and method as may be determined by the Management Committee from time to time. No Committee Member shall be elected unless he or she is qualified to hold office and has been nominated in accordance with this clause, unless the number of members nominated are fewer than the number of vacancies to be filled.

#### 15. VACANCIES ON THE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

#### 15.1 Casual Vacancies

Any casual vacancy that occurs in the position of a Committee Member may be filled by the remaining Committee Members from among Members until the next AGM.

## 15.2 Grounds for Termination of Committee Member

The office of a Committee Member becomes vacant if the Committee Member:

- (a) dies or becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health;
- (b) becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with their creditors generally;
- (c) resigns their office in writing to the Sub-Club, is removed by Special Resolution or is absent without the consent of the Management Committee from meetings of the Management Committee held during a period of six months;

- (d) fails to declare a conflict of interest with the affairs of the Sub-Club; or
- (e) acts in a manner unbecoming or prejudicial to the Objects and/or interests of the Sub-Club or Registered Club, or has brought himself or herself, or the Sub-Club or Registered Club into disrepute, as determined in accordance with clause 11 or the Registered Club's Constitution; or
- (f) is suspended from membership of the Registered Club;
- (g) ceases to be a member of the Registered Club or the Sub-Club.

#### 16. POWERS AND DUTIES OF MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Subject to this Constitution, the Management Committee will manage the Sub-Club's business and may exercise the Sub-Club's powers that are not required, by this Constitution, to be exercised by the Sub-Club in General Meeting.

## 17. PROCEEDINGS AT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEETINGS

## 17.1 Management Committee meetings

- (a) The Management Committee may meet for conducting business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit.
- (b) A question arising at a Management Committee meeting is to be decided by a majority of votes. Each Committee Member present has one vote on a matter arising for decision by Committee Members.
- (c) The chair of the meeting will not have a casting vote.
- (d) Five Committee Members present in person constitutes a quorum.
- (e) A Committee Member may convene a Management Committee meeting on two days' notice unless all Committee Members agree to hold a meeting at shorter notice.
- (f) Written notice of each Management Committee meeting, specifying the general nature of the time, date, place and mode of the Management Committee meeting and the business to be transacted, shall be served on each Committee Member in accordance with the Committee Member's last notified contact details.
- (g) The President will chair all meetings of the Management Committee unless there is no Chair, or the Chair is not present or is unwilling to act, in which case the Committee Members present must elect one of their number to chair that meeting.
- (h) The Committee Members must cause minutes of meetings to be made.
- 17.2 Officers and their duties see **By Laws** for detailed job descriptions.

## **PRESIDENT**

If present, shall take the chair at all meetings. If absent, a Vice President shall take the chair, and in the absence of the President and both Vice Presidents, the members present shall elect a Chairman from amongst their number.

The President is ex-officio a member of all Sub-Committees with the exception of the Selection Committee.

#### **VICE PRESIDENTS**

Will assist the President in the management of the Sub Club and deputise at meetings and other functions in the absence of the President

#### **SECRETARY**

Shall keep accurate minutes of all proceedings at meetings of the Sub-Club.

#### **TREASURER**

Shall receive all monies due to the club and shall place same to the credit of the Sub-Club, in such bank as the Board of the Registered Club shall from time to time determine

#### **BOWLS COORDINATORS**

Shall organise the playing of the game of bowls under the direction of the Management Committee

#### **SELECTORS**

Shall be responsible for the selection of teams for pennant fixtures and other competitive fixtures where the Sub-Club is to be represented

#### 17.3 Committee Members' interests

A Committee Member shall declare to the Management Committee that Committee Member's interest in any matter in which any material personal interest or related party transaction arises as defined by the *Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)* and that Committee Member must absent himself or herself from discussion of such matter and is not entitled to vote in respect of such matter.

#### 18. TELECOMMUNICATION MEETING

- (a) A General Meeting or Management Committee meeting may be held by means of a telecommunication meeting, provided that the:
  - (i) number of Members or Committee Members (as applicable) participating is not less than a quorum required for a General Meeting or Management Committee meeting (as applicable); and
  - (ii) meeting is convened and held in accordance with this Constitution.

(b) All provisions of this Constitution relating to a meeting apply to a telecommunication meeting in so far as they are not inconsistent with the provisions of this **clause 18**.

#### 19. DELEGATES

The Management Committee shall annually appoint delegate(s) to the Registered Club and Bowls NSW and any other body to which the Sub Club is entitled representation.

## 20. SUB-COMMITTEES

- (a) The Management Committee may by written instrument delegate any of its powers to Sub-Committees consisting of such persons it thinks fit (including Committee Members, individuals and consultants) and may vary or revoke any delegation.
- (b) A Sub-Committee must exercise the powers delegated to it according to the terms of delegation and is responsible to and reports to the Management Committee.
- (c) Meetings of Sub-Committees are governed by the provisions of this Constitution dealing with Management Committee meetings.

#### 21. BY-LAWS

- (a) The Management Committee may from time to time:
  - make By-Laws which in its opinion are necessary or desirable for the control, administration and management of the Sub-Club's affairs; and
  - (ii) amend, repeal and replace those By-Laws.
- (b) A By-Law is subject to this Constitution and when in force, is binding on all Members and has the same effect as a provision in this Constitution.

## 22. KEEPING RECORDS

The Management Committee shall establish and maintain proper records and minutes concerning all transactions, business, meetings and dealings of the Sub-Club and the Management Committee and shall produce these as appropriate at each Management Committee meeting or General Meeting.

#### 23. ACCOUNTS

#### 23.1 Financial Year

The financial year of the Sub-Club is 30<sup>th</sup> June in each year

#### 23.2 Records

Books, documents, securities and proper accounting and other records shall be kept and held in the care and control of the Management Committee.

## 23.3 Management Committee to Submit Accounts

The Management Committee shall submit to the AGM the accounts of the Sub-Club.

#### 23.4 Transactions

All cheques, promissory notes, bankers' drafts, bills of exchange, other negotiable instruments, electronic transactions and all receipts for money paid to the Sub-Club, shall be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed or otherwise executed, as the case may be, in such manner as the Management Committee determines from time to time.

#### 24. SERVICE OF DOCUMENTS

Documents may be served on a Member or the Sub-Club personally, by post or by email or other electronic transmission (including by posting on the Sub-Club's website) in accordance with the Member or Sub-Club's last notified contact details.

## 25. DISSOLVING SUB-CLUB

If, upon dissolving the Sub-Club, and after satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property remains, that property must be distributed to the Registered Club.

#### 26. REPORTING TO BOWLS NSW

The Sub-Club must annually lodge with Bowls NSW the following:

- (a) all annual fees payable to Bowls NSW;
- (b) a copy of the Sub-Club's annual report:
- (c) an annual membership return using the form prescribed by Bowls NSW;
- (d) an annual update of all Sub-Club contacts and Committee Members using the form prescribed by Bowls NSW;
- (e) any changes to this Constitution; and
- (f) any further documents as prescribed by Bowls NSW from time to time.